**CRC** 

8.25(b)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CITY OF ALHAMBRA, et al.

Plaintiffs and Appellants

SUPREME COURT FILED NOV 2 2 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

v.

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, et al.,

Deputy

Defendants and Respondents

#### **OPENING BRIEF**

From a Decision of the Second District Court of Appeal Reversing a Judgment Entered by the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC116375

Honorable James C. Chalfant, Presiding

[By C.C.P. § 638 Reference to the Hon. Dzintra Janavs (Ret.)]

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP

Scott D. Bertzyk (116449)

Karin L. Bohmholdt (234929)

2450 Colorado Avenue Suite 400E

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Does Revenue and Taxation Code section 97.75 prohibit a county from taking into account property tax revenues diverted from the county's Educational Revenue Augmentation Fund to a city under sections 97.68 and 97.70 when determining, pursuant to section 95.3, the city's share of costs incurred by the county in the assessment, collection, and allocation of property taxes?<sup>1</sup>

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Section 97.75 resides in a dense article (Article 3) of a dense chapter (Chapter 6) of the Revenue and Taxation Code. In contrast to many of the surrounding statutes dealing with the same subject matter (tax allocation and administration), section 97.75 is brief and contains but two sentences:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, for the 2004-05 and 2005-06 fiscal years, a county shall not impose a fee, charge, or other levy on a city, nor reduce a city's allocation of ad valorem property tax revenue, in reimbursement for the services performed by the county under Sections 97.68 and 97.70. For the 2006-07

All statutory citations are to the Revenue and Taxation Code unless otherwise noted. Citations to "JA" are to the Joint Appendix below; citations to "Dec." are to the Court of Appeal's opinion attached to the County's Petition for Review.

The "Issue Presented" is quoted from this Court's website because the "Issue Presented" as stated in the Petition for Review contained a preliminary statement that defined many terms. The Issue Presented in the Petition for Review, pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.520(b)(2), is as follows: "Does section 97.75 implicitly repeal section 95.3's requirement that each city is responsible for the pro rata share of PTAF associated with all property tax revenues it receives and, in effect, impliedly give the cities' new tax shares the same PTAF exemption granted to schools expressly?" The Answer to the Petition for Review expressly declined to state a counter-issue, but at footnote 2, urged a different articulation, as follows: "Did the Court of Appeal correctly construe Revenue & Taxation Code § 97.75 to provide that counties may recover their actual, marginal costs to implement the VLF Swap and Triple Flip but may not reallocate their entire cost to administer the property tax system in light of property taxes paid in lieu of vehicle license fees and sales taxes under those measures?"

fiscal year and each fiscal year thereafter, a county may impose a fee, charge, or other levy on a city for these services, but the fee, charge, or other levy shall not exceed the actual cost of providing these services.

For fiscal years 2004-05 and 2005-06, the County did not reduce cities' tax allocations under sections 97.68 or 97.70 to recoup *any* costs of administration, whether it be the cost of incremental new services required by sections 97.68 and 97.70 or the underlying costs of assessing and collecting such revenues, which always had been subject to recoupment under section 95.3. For each fiscal year thereafter, the County has recouped from cities all costs of administration associated with the cities' additional tax shares. It is undisputed that, without section 97.75, the County could have recouped such costs under section 95.3.

Nonetheless, 47 cities in Los Angeles County (and cities in other counties across the State) challenge such recoupment. The issue is whether section 97.75 somehow impliedly trumps section 95.3. From any vantage point, the answer is "No."

For example, the trial court concluded that section 97.75's ambiguous term "services" was intended to embrace all "services" associated with the assessment, collection and allocation of the additional tax shares going to cities under sections 97.68 and 97.70. Under this interpretation, it follows that section 97.75: (i) forbade counties for two years from recouping any administrative costs associated with the additional tax shares allocated to cities under sections 97.68 and 97.70, but (ii) expressly authorized recoupment of all such costs thereafter. Thus, under this interpretation, a defense judgment would be required.

Alternatively, one could interpret the term "services" narrowly, as the Court of Appeal did — such that only the incremental, new services associated with the VLF Swap and Triple Flip are addressed by section 97.75. Under that interpretation, however, the only different conclusions the Court would reach are that: (i) the County under-collected in the first two years (because section 97.75

only forbade recoupment of the cost of incremental new services and section 95.3 permitted recoupment of the remainder); and (ii) section 95.3, rather than section 97.75, provided authority for recoupment of the cost of the traditional administrative services required to assess and collect the cities' additional tax shares. Again, a defense judgment would be required.

The Court of Appeal interpreted section 97.75 in a vacuum without considering whether its interpretation created disharmony with the rest of the scheme. As a consequence, the Court of Appeal's interpretation either rewrites section 97.75 or impliedly repeals section 95.3 in part, contrary to fundamental rules of statutory interpretation. The Court of Appeal's decision should be reversed, and the trial court's judgment should be affirmed.

### BACKGROUND AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Overview

Like many cases that have come before this Court, this action traces its roots to Proposition 13, passed by the electorate in 1978 to cap real property taxes at 1% of property value. (Cal. Const., art. 13A.)<sup>2</sup> Property taxes provide the most stable source of discretionary revenue for local governments; they once also provided the largest and most important source of funding for schools (now a constitutional obligation of the State). The sometimes conflicting responses to the exigencies created by Proposition 13 have spawned a dense and byzantine tax allocation scheme within which the statutes in issue here must be interpreted and placed in context. (See *County of Sonoma v. Commission on State Mandates* (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 1264, 1269-1276 [describing evolution post-Prop 13]; *City of El Monte v. Commission on State Mandates* (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 266, 270-274 [describing evolution of tax schemes post-Prop 13].) Before plunging headlong into the thickness of that forest, we pause first to provide an overview of the scheme and the specific issue at hand.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See also 1 JA 46 [Stipulated Fact Number 6].

For decades, counties have been tasked with providing the property tax administration services by which local property tax revenues are assessed, collected and allocated to all local jurisdictions entitled to receive them.<sup>3</sup> This centralizing of services was, in principle, merely a useful efficiency. And, prior to the adoption of Proposition 13, this obligation imposed no significant burden, as counties were free to set their countywide property tax rates at levels sufficient to recoup the administrative cost from all taxpayers. With the adoption of Proposition 13, however, counties' ability to recoup their administrative costs — commonly called property tax administrative fees or "PTAF" — vanished, creating an unfair financial burden.<sup>4</sup>

Recognizing the unfairness, the Legislature, in 1990, passed a PTAF recoupment rule that, with an exception for "school entities," still is in place today. (Section 95.3.) In essence, section 95.3 provides that:

- the PTAF charge allotted to each local entity equals its percentage share of total countywide property tax revenues; and
- with the exception of "school entities" (which are exempt), each recipient's share of PTAF is to be deducted from the property tax revenues otherwise allocable to it.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See 1 JA 46 [Stipulated Fact Number 5].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See 1 JA 46 [Stipulated Fact Number 6]; see also section 95.3, subd. (e) [expressly noting unfair burden created by Proposition 13].

The exemption for school entities is driven by the State's constitutional obligation to fund education equitably. As we shall explain below, this is the only exemption from PTAF recoupment our Legislature ever has seen fit to enact; even there, the Legislature did so grudgingly and in baby steps because it recognized that its actions would have an adverse impact upon property tax administration.

In this way, every recipient of property tax revenues bears its pro rata share of the expenses incurred to collect them. (See *Community Redevelopment Agency of the City of Los Angels v. County of Los Angeles* (2001) 89 Cal.App.4th 719, 723.)

The amount of property taxes allocated to local jurisdictions — and, hence, the corresponding amount of PTAF for which each jurisdiction is responsible — has ebbed and flowed over time (invariably, as a result of legislation passed to meet immediate State budget concerns). In the early 1990s, for example, to help defray its constitutional obligation to fund education, the State substantially reduced the property tax shares allocated to local entities by requiring contributions to a so-called Educational Revenue Augmentation Fund (ERAF), and exempting those contributions from PTAF recoupment. (See *County of Sonoma, supra*, 84 Cal.App.4th at p. 1269.) In contrast, during the 2003-04 and 2004-05 fiscal years, the Legislature essentially came full circle through two statutes that restored to cities and counties property tax revenues that originally had been allocated to local entities and subject to PTAF recoupment, but in the interim had been diverted to ERAFs for school funding.

Section 95.3 would allow counties to recoup the PTAF associated with the additional tax shares now being allocated to cities under those two new statutes. After all section 95.3 makes each recipient of property tax revenues except for schools responsible for its full, pro rata share of PTAF. Yet 47 of the 88 cities in Los Angeles County have contended that *another* statute (section 97.75, governing "services performed by the county under Sections 97.68 and 97.70") forbids such recoupment.<sup>8</sup>

The issue in this mandamus proceeding is whether section 97.75 reflects a clear legislative intent to trump section 95.3 and forbid recoupment that otherwise

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See 1 JA 47 [Stipulated Fact Number 8].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Those two statutes are section 97.68 (commonly called the "Triple Flip") and section 97.70 (commonly called the "VLF Swap").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See 1 JA 1-9 [allegations in Petition].

would follow as a matter of course. With this brief overview, we now stride into the forest of Chapter 6 of the Revenue & Taxation Code, entitled "Allocation of Property Tax Revenues."

### B. Property Tax Collection And The Impact Of Proposition 13

Property taxes provide a large and important source of discretionary revenue for local governments. Each local entity originally administered its own property taxes. Over several decades preceding Proposition 13, the job was centralized with counties. Thus, even as many local entities benefit from property tax revenues, counties alone bear the burden of assessing them, collecting them, handling appeals, and disseminating to each benefiting entity (including cities) its proportionate share of the taxes collected each year. Responsibility for the administrative expense of these efforts — the property tax administrative fees or "PTAF" — has differed over time.

Historically, counties had limited means to recoup PTAF from the various entities benefiting from counties' assessment, collection, and allocation efforts. For example, Government Code section 51520, enacted in the 1960s, provided for the County to bear all its administrative costs "without compensation" as to any cities that agreed to use the County's assessment rolls. Prior to the adoption of Proposition 13 in 1978, <sup>10</sup> this limitation imposed no burden because counties were free to set countywide property tax rates at a level sufficient to enable them to recoup administration costs from the taxpayers countywide. <sup>11</sup> With the adoption of Proposition 13, however, the counties' ability to do so vanished. <sup>12</sup> Counties could no longer both meet their core service responsibilities and recoup PTAF,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See 1 JA 46 [Stipulated Fact Number 4].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Cal. Const., art. XIIIA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> 1 JA 46 [Stipulated Fact Number 6].

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  *Id*.

given the constitutional cap on the amount of property tax that counties could collect. (See *County of Sonoma*, *supra*, 84 Cal.App.4th at p. 1273.)

In effect, then, after Proposition 13, counties retained the administrative and financial burden to assess, equalize and collect property taxes, but could neither collect sufficient taxes to offset the burden nor pass on the cost to the various local jurisdictions benefiting from the counties' efforts. Compounding the problem — as this Court's precedents reflect — property tax administration was increasingly forced to grapple with new and heavy demands.<sup>13</sup>

# C. Recognizing The Unfair Burden Upon Counties, The Legislature Authorizes PTAF Recoupment, But Soon Exempts Local Schools

Recognizing the unfairness of this situation, the Legislature passed a statute to permit counties to recoup from each recipient of property tax revenues that recipient's pro rata share of PTAF.<sup>14</sup> As originally enacted in 1990, the recoupment rule was absolute: Every local agency or jurisdiction receiving property tax revenues, including schools, was obligated for its pro rata share of PTAF. (Stats. 1990, ch. 466, § 4 (SB 2557) [amending Rev. & Tax. Code section 97].)<sup>15</sup>

It would not be long before fiscal problems prompted the Legislature to create an exception out of necessity. To elaborate, in 1988, the California

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> 1 JA 46 [Stip. No. 6]; 3 JA 547. The burden is substantial and heaviest in times of economic decline. As the cities themselves noted below: (i) total PTAF for the 2005-2006 fiscal year was almost \$122 million; and (ii) the next year, PTAF increased by 14.7% to almost \$140 million. (Appellants' Opening Brief at p. 7.) Although the trial court deemed the point irrelevant, it was undisputed that the depressed economy has caused an exponential increase in the number of taxpayer assessment appeals, and hence, the costs that drive PTAF. (2 JA 458-459 [¶¶ 4-6].)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See 1 JA 47 [Stipulated Fact Number 7].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See also *Arcadia Redevelopment Agency v. Ikemoto* (1993) 16 Cal.App.4th 444, 454 [quoting legislative findings clarifying original recoupment rule and legislative history].

electorate had passed Proposition 98, which established a minimum annual State funding level for K-14 schools (K-12 schools and community colleges). (See *County of Sonoma, supra*, 84 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1275-1276 and fn. 8.) But, within years, the State was hit with a recession that (i) reduced available revenues, (ii) created a fiscal crisis, and (iii) drove the Legislature to take a series of steps designed to shift much of its educational funding obligation to local government in general, and counties in particular. (See *id.*)<sup>16</sup>

The first intrusion, enacted in 1991, was relatively modest.<sup>17</sup> With the recession in its infancy, the Legislature simply exempted schools from the PTAF recoupment rule established the year before, thereby (i) saddling counties with the PTAF associated with property tax revenues allocated to schools, and (ii) freeing the State to spend the same amount of dollars on services other than education. (Stats. 1991, ch. 75, § 1 (SB 188); ch. 333, § 3 (SB 282).)

In 1992, with budget problems worsening, the Legislature went much further, creating a so-called Educational Revenue Augmentation Fund (ERAF) and requiring local governments and agencies to shift part of their allocated property tax shares to the ERAF to be used to offset the State's funding obligation for education. (See *County of Sonoma*, *supra*, 84 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1274-1275.) Attempting to minimize the harm to property tax administration, however, the Legislature: (i) provided that counties still could recoup from schools the PTAF associated with revenues *allocated to the ERAF*; and (ii) "found" that such recoupment would not impact the State's financial obligation for school funding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See generally Community Redevelopment Agency of the City of Los Angeles v. County of Los Angeles (2001) 89 Cal.App.4th 719, 723 ["In the early 1990's, at a time when public funds were in crisis, the Legislature enacted several provisions to foster the economic viability of county governments."].

Modest in terms of PTAF impact, that is; major local revenue cuts were occurring. (See *Arcadia Redevelopment Agency v. Ikemoto*, *supra*, 16 Cal.App.4th at p. 450.)

(i.e., that the State would not have to make up the PTAF dollars recouped on ERAF funds). (Stats. 1992, ch. 697, § 14 (SB 1559).)

In 1993, with the crisis deepening further, the Legislature did away with PTAF recoupment for revenues allocated to ERAFs (as well as schools). (Stats. 1993, ch. 66, § 35.5 (SB 399).) And, in 1994, the Legislature moved the recoupment rule to section 95.3, where it still resides today. (Stats. 1994, ch. 1167, § 6 (AB 3347).) Since that time, there has been only one amendment to section 95.3, and it worked no substantive change. 18

Here is how the recoupment rules codified in section 95.3 work today, and have worked since 1993:<sup>19</sup>

Section 95.3, subd. (a) fixes the PTAF recoupment factor for each entity as the percentage of total countywide property tax revenues allocated among the various entities entitled to receive them:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, . . . the auditor shall divide the sum of the amounts calculated with respect to each jurisdiction, Educational Revenue Augmentation Fund (ERAF), or community redevelopment agency pursuant to Sections 96.1 and 100, or their predecessor sections, and Section 33670 of the Health and Safety Code, by the countywide total of those calculated amounts. The resulting ratio shall be known as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> In 1996, the Legislature amended section 95.3 to confirm that property tax revenues allocated to ERAFs were exempt from PTAF recoupment. (Stats. 1996, ch. 1073, § 1 (AB 1055).) This amendment did not expand the exemption one iota, however. (See section 95, subd. (f) ["School entities' means school districts, community college districts, the Educational Revenue Augmentation Fund, and county superintendents of schools."].)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Section 95.3, subd. (c), simply exempts PTAF recoupment from the claims presentation requirements set forth in section 907 of the Government Code. Section 95.3, subds. (f) and (g), simply deal with the effective date of the statute, and the timing of its replacement of prior recoupment statutes. Hence, we discuss only subdivisions (a), (b), (d) and (e) in text.

the "administrative cost apportionment factor" and shall be multiplied by the sum of the property tax administrative costs incurred in the immediately preceding fiscal year . . . to determine the fiscal year property tax administrative costs proportionately attributable to each jurisdiction, ERAF, or community redevelopment agency. . . .

(Emphasis added.)

- Section 95.3, subdivision (b) provides for each recipient of property tax revenues other than school entities to pay its pro rata share of PTAF, which is to be deducted from the revenues allocated to the recipient. ("Each proportionate share of property tax administrative costs determined pursuant to subdivision (a), except for those proportionate shares determined with respect to a school entity or ERAF, shall be deducted from the property tax revenue allocation of the relevant jurisdiction or community redevelopment agency, and shall be added to the property tax revenue allocation of the county. . . .")
- Section 95.3, subdivision (d) provides that the funds recouped through section 95.3, subdivision (b) "shall be used only to fund costs incurred by the county in assessing, equalizing, and collecting property taxes, and in allocating property tax revenues."
- Finally, section 95.3, subdivision (e) expresses the broad remedial intent behind this rule of recoupment:

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