IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

City of Alhambra, et al. Plaintiffs and Appellants

FILED DEC **2 0** 2010

SUPREME COURT

VS.

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

County of Los Angeles, et al. Defendants and Respondents.

Deputy

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

From a Published Decision of the Second District Court of Appeal
Reversing a Judgment Entered by the Superior Court of
the State of California for the County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC116375
Honorable James C. Chalfant, Presiding
[By CCP § 638 Reference to the Hon. Dzintra Janavs (Ret.)]

Michael G. Colantuono (SBN 143551) MColantuono@CLLAW.US Holly O. Whatley (SBN 160259) HWhatley@CLLAW.US

COLANTUONO & LEVIN, PC

I. Introduction

This dispute regards charges Los Angeles County imposes on cities within it to administer the property tax system from which the County, cities, special districts and the State all derive revenue. These fees are known as property tax administration fees or "PTAF." In particular, since fiscal year 2006-07, Respondent County of Los Angeles and its Auditor-Controller (collectively, hereinafter "Respondents" or "County") have incurred annual costs of approximately \$35,000 to administer allocations of property taxes the County makes to the 88 cities within it in lieu of sales taxes and vehicle license fees diverted to the State Treasury pursuant to the Economic Recovery Bond Act adopted in 2004 and legislation known as the "VLF Swap." The County makes these in-lieu property tax allocations to cities pursuant to Revenue & Taxation Code § 97.68³ as to a portion of Bradley-Burns sales tax which would otherwise be paid to cities, and pursuant to Revenue & Taxation Code § 97.70 as to motor vehicle license fees ("VLF") the cities would otherwise receive. The swap of sales taxes for property taxes is known in government circles as "the Triple Flip" and the swap of VLF for property taxes is known as "the VLF Swap."

 $^{^{1}}$ All "years" referenced in this brief are County fiscal years, which run from July 1 to June 30^{th} .

² Forty-seven of Los Angeles County's 88 cities are petitioners in this case, but the issues addressed here affect all of them.

³ Unspecified section references in this brief are to the Revenue & Taxation Code.

⁴ The purpose of these swaps of sales taxes and VLFs for property taxes is to allow the Legislature to providing funding for K-14 education without increasing base funding due to school districts under Proposition 98, Cal. Const. art. XIII B, §§ 2, 5.5, 8, and 8.5 by using non-General Fund revenues to do so.

⁵ The "Triple Flip" refers to (i) a quarter-cent reduction in the local sales tax and a

Revenue & Taxation Code § 97.75 allows counties to charge cities for the services to administer these two in-lieu payment streams beginning in 2006-07, but expressly limits such fees to "the actual cost of providing these services."

The County concedes it did not charge each of the 88 cities a proportionate share of the \$35,000 the County actually spent to perform this service. Rather, in 2006-07 alone the County charged the Appellants collectively \$4.8 million more in PTAF than the cities would have been charged had the Legislature not required the inlieu payments in order to allow it to use sales taxes and VLF revenues for State purposes. In 2007-08, the County charged the 47 Appellants approximately \$5.3 million in PTAF on account of these property taxes allocated in lieu of sales tax and These sums do not include similar charges imposed on 41 Los VLF revenues. Angeles County cities not party to this case. To justify its multimillion-dollar, ongoing windfall; the County ignores the plain language of § 97.75 and argues the allocations of property taxes in lieu of sales taxes and VLF should be added to each city's property tax share for purposes of calculating each city's obligation to fund the cost of operating the property tax system. That calculation apportions the cost to operate the entire property tax system – from assessing to billing to collecting to Sheriff's sales - in proportion to each agency's share of total property tax receipts, with an important exception that lies at the heart of this case – funds formerly used for State purposes to fund K-14 education⁶ (i.e., revenues to the Educational Revenue Augmentation Fund or ERAF) and now used to make cities and counties whole for

quarter-cent increase in the state sales tax, (ii) a transfer of property tax revenues from schools to cities and counties to offset the sales tax loss, and (iii) a subvention of state general fund revenues to schools.

⁶ K-14 is a convention that refers to public school districts from kindergarten through junior college.

the State's diversion of sales tax and VLF proceeds to State purposes. The result of the County's violation of the limits on its authority to impose PTAF under § 97.75 is that the cities are collectively paying a multi-million-dollar increased share of the cost of operating the property tax system – costs previously paid by other beneficiaries of the property tax system, principally the County itself. The County's illegal and unauthorized withholding of property tax allocations from the cities within it will continue indefinitely unless the writ ordered by the Court of Appeal is permitted to issue.

Because § 97.75 imposes a mandatory and ministerial duty on the County to calculate and charge only its **actual** costs to administer the Triple Flip and VLF Swap, the Court of Appeal rejected the County's tortured interpretation of that section. Instead it found that construction ignores the plain language of the statute, which limits counties to their actual costs to make these marginal changes to the property tax system, not to re-spread their average cost to operate that entire system, which has been a County responsibility since California entered the Union. The Court of Appeal also determined the trial court failed to give effect to every word of § 97.75, and ignored the rule that more recent, specific laws control over older, more general legislation.

Anxious to keep the millions in property tax revenue to which it helped itself, the County fashions a complex and arcane argument to give a meaning to § 97.75 that enriches it at cities' expense by tens of millions of dollars annually and indefinitely. But this interpretation cannot overcome the bare language of § 97.75 which, as the Court of Appeal found in an opinion designated for publication, is logically coherent on its own terms, begins with the phrase "notwithstanding any other provision of law," and would have no need for the second of its two sentences if the County's tortured construction were correct. Fortunately, such complexity and elaborate subtlety is not required to discern the intent of the Legislature here, which was to

continue to protect from PTAF monies that the State uses for its own purposes – what had been PTAF-exempt ERAF money is now PTAF-exempt local money used to free up sales tax and VLF dollars for State use. Nor need this Court ignore the Legislature's stated intention in § 95.3(b)(2) to cure the funding gap of which the County complains from State revenues, rather than to empower counties to take it from cities. The Court of Appeal's decision is well-reasoned, in accordance with controlling rules of statutory interpretation and provides a persuasive basis to overturn the trial court ruling before this Court.

II. Statement of Facts

A. <u>Property Tax Administration Fees Generally</u>

The County is responsible to assess, collect, and allocate property tax revenues collected from owners of property in Los Angeles County. (Stip. Fact No. 4; 1 JA 46.)⁷ Respondents calculate and distribute to the various local government entities within Los Angeles County (including cities, redevelopment agencies, school districts, other special districts and the County itself) each entity's share of property tax revenue. (Stip. Fact No. 5; 1 JA 46.) The County, with certain limitations, is entitled to withhold from property tax distributions each entity's proportionate share of most of the costs to administer the property tax system – costs associated with the Educational Revenue Augmentation Fund ("ERAF")'s allocation of property taxes were and are the County's responsibility. ERAF is defined further below. The fee a county may charge for this purpose is commonly termed the "Property Tax Administration Fee" or "PTAF". (Stip. Fact No. 7; 1 JA 47.) The County withholds

⁷ "JA" refers to the Joint Appendix below.

each entity's annual PTAF from the property tax distributions Respondents make to the entities. (Stip. Fact No. 10; 1 JA 47.)

Generally, the amount the County withholds from a city's property tax revenues as payment of PTAF is calculated as follows:

- i. Respondents calculate the County's prior year property tax administration costs of the assessor, tax collector, assessment appeals board and auditor-controller. Such costs include the direct costs, all activities directly involved in assessing, collecting and processing property taxes and overhead costs established in accordance with Federal Budget Circular A-87.8 (Stip. Fact No. 9.a; 1 JA 47.)
- ii. The County calculates each entity's proportionate share of such costs by calculating the ratio of the property tax revenue received by each entity to total property tax revenues. (Stip. Fact No. 9.b; 1 JA 47.)
- iii. The County multiplies its administrative costs incurred in the immediately preceding fiscal year by each City's cost apportionment factor to determine each City's PTAF for the current fiscal year. (Stip. Fact No. 9.c; 1 JA 47.)

In 1992-93, the Legislature established in each county an Education Revenue Augmentation Fund, or ERAF. The Legislature shifted property tax revenues to ERAF from cities, counties and non-school special districts to defray the State's constitutional responsibility to fund public education. The Legislature exempted both the property taxes paid to K-14 schools and the ERAF from recoupment of PTAF. (Stip. Fact No. 8; 1 JA 47.) The reason for this is obvious – the Legislature used ERAF to ameliorate State fiscal problems in the 1990s and did not choose to pay

⁸ Although not in issue here, that federal directive establishes cost-accounting standards used throughout the American public sector to identify overhead and other indirect costs appropriately attributed to a service or activity.

Counties for the privilege. Thus, the Legislature's decision to allow Counties to recover the cost of operating the property tax system has **always** been partial, and Counties have **never** been authorized to impose on other local governments the full cost of this historic county responsibility and, contrary to the County's revisionist history, no inexorable trend toward greater financial latitude for counties at the expense of cities appears.

B. The Triple Flip and VLF Swap

On March 2, 2004 the voters adopted Proposition 57, the perhaps ironically entitled Economic Recovery Bond Act. (Gov. Code § 99050.) This statute authorized bonds – borrowing – to defer resolution of the State's budget problems. (Id.) Effective July 1, 2004, Revenue & Taxation Code § 97.68 reduced the Bradley-Burns Sales and Use Tax rate paid to cities and counties by ¼-cent, and the ¼-cent is retained by the State to repay the economic recovery bonds. (Stip. Fact No. 11; 1 JA 47-48; Rev. & Tax. Code, § 97.68) Section 97.68 provides that, in lieu of the ¼-cent sales tax, cities and counties receive property taxes that otherwise would have been allocated to schools via ERAF. The State's General Fund compensates schools for reduced ERAF revenues, paying direct subventions to each school, community college and county superintendent. This revenue swap, known as the "Triple Flip," was adopted as a temporary measure to fund repayment of the economic recovery bonds. (Stip. Fact No. 11; 1 JA 47-48.) It was intended to be revenue-neutral as to cities and counties and allowed the State to avoid using State General Fund revenues

for this purpose, as such revenues are subject to the mandates of Proposition 98,⁹ which generally requires a minimum percentage of all State General Fund revenues to be used for schools.

Every September 1st, the State Department of Finance notifies each county auditor of the Triple Flip adjustment amount for each city and county for the current fiscal year. (Rev. & Tax. Code, § 97.68(c)(1).) The adjustment is based on the actual sales and use taxes received by each entity pursuant to the local 1-cent (now ³/₄%) portion of the Bradley Burns uniform sales tax (which are allocated based on the place or "situs" of taxed transactions) for the prior year and any growth in those revenues projected for the current year. (Rev. & Tax. Code, § 97.68(b)(2).) The 58 county auditors must then transfer property tax funds from ERAF to reflect sales taxes diverted from cities and counties by the ½% sales tax shift of the Triple Flip. (Rev. & Tax. Code, § 97.68(c)(2).)

Following Governor Schwarzenegger's election in the recall of 2003, 10 and effective July 1, 2004, the Legislature permanently reduced the vehicle license fees (VLF) payable to cities and counties from 2% to 0.65% of a vehicle's assessed value. To ensure this maneuver was revenue neutral as to cities and counties, § 97.70 provides that each city and county shall receive property tax payments in lieu of the

⁹ Cal. Const., art. XIII B, §§ 2, 5.5, 8, and 8.5. Every dollar that passes through the State's General Fund is subject to the Prop. 98 funding guarantee, which can be analogized to a "tax" on State discretionary funding. The Triple Flip and the VLF Swap allow the State to use non-General Fund revenues to fulfill part of its constitutional obligation to fund K-14 education and thus avoid the Prop. 98 "tax" on those funds.

¹⁰ The recall campaign featured memorable pictures of Mr. Schwarzenegger smashing automobiles to demonstrate his populist opposition to the "car tax," *i.e.*, the VLF.

lost VLF. (Rev. & Tax. Code, § 97.70(b)(1).) The in-lieu payments come from each county's ERAF which, as noted above, are not subject to PTAF – the withheld taxes used to partially fund the County's cost to operate the property tax system. (Rev. & Tax. Code, § 97.70(a)(1)(A).) If the ERAF in any county is insufficient to fund these required in-lieu payments, additional amounts are drawn from non-basic-aid school district's share of property taxes, ¹¹ which are then replaced by the State General Fund. This substitution is commonly known as "the VLF Swap." No sunset is provided for the VLF Swap, thus it is intended to be as permanent as any feature of California's complex system of state and local government finance. (Stip. Fact No. 12; 1 JA 48.)

Pursuant to §§ 97.68 and 97.70, Respondents have a duty to annually allocate and distribute to the 88 cities within Los Angeles County the payments from ERAF required by the Triple Flip and the VLF Swap. (Stip. Fact No. 13; 1 JA 48.)

¹¹ School districts obtain most of their revenues from property taxes, including those distributed via the ERAF, and from the State in the form of average daily attendance (or ADA) money – money paid depending on student population and school attendance. These funding streams are intended to meet the State's constitutional obligation, established in *Serrano v. Priest* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 584, to provide relatively equivalent funding for the education of students in wealthy and in poor districts. School districts in areas with relatively high property values – and thus property tax revenues – do not need ADA funds to meet the *Serrano v. Priest* funding level and are therefore termed "basic aid" districts.

C. County's PTAF Calculation Method

The County's net costs to operate the property tax system in 2005-06 were \$121,742,433 – almost \$122 million. (2 JA 269-285.) For 2006-07, these costs increased to almost \$140 million. (2 JA 286-304.) These include costs of the Auditor-Controller, the assessor, the assessment appeal board and the treasurer and tax collector. (2 JA 269-304.)

Section 97.75 – the statute at issue in this case – provides:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, for the 2004-05 and 2005-06 fiscal years, a county shall not impose a fee, charge, or other levy on a city, nor reduce a city's allocation of ad valorem property tax revenue, in reimbursement for the services performed by the county under Sections 97.68¹² and 97.70.¹³ For the 2006-07 fiscal year and each fiscal year thereafter, a county may impose a fee, charge, or other levy on a city for these services, but the fee, charge, or other levy shall not exceed the actual cost of providing these services. (Footnotes and emphasis added.)

As this statute requires, the County did not charge Petitioners for any property tax administrative services related to the Triple Flip and the VLF Swap in 2004-05 or 2005-06. (Stip. Fact No. 15; 1 JA 48-49.) Beginning in 2006-07, however, Respondents included the funds paid under the Triple Flip and the VLF Swap as additional property tax share to each City for purposes of calculating increased PTAF obligations, thus distributing the cost to operate the property tax system against

¹² *I.e.*, the Triple-Flip exchange of property taxes for sales taxes.

¹³ *I.e.*, the VLF Swap of property taxes for vehicle license fee proceeds.

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